
 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TALLAHASSEE DIVISION 
 
 

SIMEON PENTON, on behalf of 
himself and all others similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

v. 
 
CENTENNIAL BANK, GREAT 
AMERICAN INSURANCE 
COMPANY, and OVERBY-SEAWELL 
COMPANY, 
 

Defendants. 

 
CASE NO. 4:18-CV-450 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Simeon Penton (“Plaintiff”), by and through his attorneys, 

individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, brings this action upon 

personal knowledge as to himself and his own acts, and upon information and 

belief as to all other matters, against Defendants Centennial Bank, Great American 

Insurance Company and Overby-Seawell Company (collectively, “Defendants”) 

and alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a class action lawsuit brought by Plaintiff on behalf of himself 

and a class of similarly-situated consumers who, during the applicable statute of 
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limitations, own or owned residential properties with mortgage loans held or 

serviced by Centennial Bank (“Centennial”) and were charged for force-placed 

hazard and/or flood insurance policies placed by Defendants that exceeded the 

insurable value of the structure on the subject properties. 

2. As alleged herein, Defendants have engaged in unlawful and 

misleading trade practices in “force-placing” unnecessary surplus or excess flood 

and hazard insurance on properties owned by Plaintiff and Class members that 

already had adequate flood and hazard insurance coverage.  

3. Centennial’s mortgage documents require its borrowers to maintain 

adequate flood and hazard insurance, and in the event the borrower fails to do so, 

Centennial is permitted to “force-place” such insurance and add the cost of the 

forced-placed flood and hazard insurance to the borrower’s mortgage.  

4. Centennial, however, directly and with the participation and assistance 

of Great American Insurance Company (“Great American”) and Overby-Seawell 

Company (“OSC”), impermissibly force-placed flood and hazard insurance in 

excess of what is required and/or on unimproved property that is not subject to 

flood insurance coverage.   

5. Centennial, with the participation and assistance of Great American 

and OSC, also required Plaintiff and the Class to maintain flood and hazard 

insurance policies in excess of the amount required by the terms of its mortgage 
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loans and federal law.  Specifically, as described below, Centennial calculated 

insurance amounts based on the greater of the mortgage balance or the insured 

value of the property.  Notably, however, the terms of Centennial’s mortgage loans 

and federal law require it to calculate insurance based on the lesser of the 

outstanding principal balance of the designated loan or the overall value of the 

property securing the loan minus the value of the land on which the property is 

located. 

6. The Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973 established the National 

Flood Insurance Program (“NFIP”). The NFIP is administered under two statutes, 

the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 and the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 

1973.  The purpose of the NFIP is to provide insurance for properties that are 

subject to flood damage or are in areas which are determined to be flood hazards.   

7. The NFIP requires that flood insurance be purchased and maintained 

on improved property taken as collateral for mortgage loans where the improved 

property is located in a Special Flood Hazard Area. See 42 U.S.C. §4012a(b).  The 

NFIP further requires that the value of a building or personal property securing a 

loan must be “at least equal to the outstanding principal balance of the loan or the 

maximum limit of coverage made available under the Act with respect to the 

particular type of property, whichever is less.”  Id. at §4012a(b)(1)(A).   
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8. Lenders cannot make, increase, extend, or renew any loan secured by 

improved real estate located in an area governed by the NFIP unless the building or 

mobile home and any personal property securing such loan is covered for the term 

of the loan by flood insurance in an amount at least equal to the outstanding 

principal balance of the loan or the maximum limit of coverage made available 

under the NFIP’s National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 and the Flood Disaster 

Protection Act of 1973, whichever is less.  See 42 U.S.C. §4012a(b)(1-2). 

9. Under the NFIP, if a borrower fails to purchase flood insurance in the 

amount required under the program, a lender may “force place” or “purchase the 

insurance on behalf of the borrower and may charge the borrower for the cost of 

premiums and fees incurred by the lender or servicer for the loan in purchasing the 

insurance.”  See 42 U.S.C. §4012a(e)(2). 

10. The NFIP further provides that the amount of flood insurance must be 

at “least equal to the lesser of the outstanding principal balance of the designated 

loan or the maximum limit of coverage available for the particular type of property 

under the Act.  Flood insurance coverage under the [NFIP] is limited to the overall 

value of the property securing the designated loan minus the value of the land on 

which the property is located.”  See 12 C.F.R. §572.3. 

11. The FDIC provides guidance to financial institutions regarding the 

determination of the amount of flood insurance required under the NFIP.   
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Specifically, the FDIC Compliance Examination Manual (2016) sets forth 

guidance as to the determination of the amount of flood insurance required for a 

property that is determined to require flood insurance under the NFIP.  The FDIC 

Manual states that “‘flood insurance coverage under the [NFIP] is limited to the 

overall value of the property securing the designated loan minus the value of the 

land on which the property is located,’ which is commonly referred to as the 

`insurable value’ of a structure. The NFIP does not insure land; therefore, land 

values should not be included in the calculation.”  Notably, a NFIP policy cannot 

cover an amount exceeding the “insurable value” of the structure and, thus, a 

lender should calculate insurance at an amount which does not include the land and 

is limited to the value of a structure.  

12. Centennial, however, with the participation and cooperation of Great 

American and OSC, improperly calculated the amount of insurance required by 

Plaintiff at an amount that exceeded the insurable value of the structure or 

improved property, despite the fact that Plaintiff maintained adequate insurance 

through his condominium association.   

13. During the Class Period, Defendants “force-placed” unnecessary, 

surplus and/or excess flood and hazard insurance on property owned by Plaintiff, 

even after Plaintiff informed Defendants that the required insurance premiums had 
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been paid for and after Plaintiff provided proof of sufficient flood and hazard 

insurance. 

14. Beginning in 2011, Centennial, through Plaintiff’s mortgage insurance 

broker, OSC, and later Great American, began force-placing flood and hazard 

insurance on Plaintiff’s property.  Specifically, Centennial represented that 

Plaintiff purportedly had insufficient flood and hazard insurance on his property.  

OSC, or later Great American, then provided notice to Plaintiff that his insurance 

was insufficient and that additional flood and hazard insurance would then be 

force-placed and charged to Plaintiff.  OSC and later Great American would 

provide Plaintiff with the notice of coverage setting forth the amount of flood and 

hazard insurance forced-placed through Great American as insurer.  OSC and later 

Great American would also provide notice to Plaintiff of the amount of premium 

charged to Plaintiff for this additional, forced-place insurance.   

15. Indeed, as set forth below, despite the fact that Plaintiff had adequate 

flood and hazard insurance on the subject property, and in violation of federal law 

and related banking regulations, Centennial calculated flood insurance on the 

amount of the mortgage, instead of the maximum amount of coverage allowed 

under the NFIP that would be the insurable value of the property minus the value 

of the land.   
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16. During the Class Period, Plaintiff had flood insurance coverage under 

the condominium association policy that was sufficient to satisfy Plaintiff’s 

obligations under federal law and related banking regulations, and Centennial was, 

at all times, aware of such coverage.  Indeed, in 2013, unbeknownst to Plaintiff, 

Centennial had Plaintiff’s property appraised and the appraisal company 

determined the value of the property at $98,000.  However, Centennial force-

placed insurance upon Plaintiff’s property claiming that the amount of insurance 

required was $141,000.  

17. As a result of Defendants’ deceptive and/or unfair business practices, 

Plaintiff was wrongfully charged for “force-placed” flood and hazard insurance 

issued, underwritten and/or brokered by Defendants, and was damaged to the 

extent of all excessive insurance premiums and any costs or fees associated with 

the force-placed insurance. 

18. Accordingly, Plaintiff brings this action to recover damages arising 

from Centennial’s breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good 

faith and fair dealing, Defendants’ violations of the Real Estate Settlement 

Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. §2601 et seq. (“RESPA”) and its implementing 

Regulation X, 12 C.F.R §1024 (“Regulation X”), Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 

15 U.S.C.§ 1601, et seq., and Centennial’s violations of the Florida Deceptive and 

Unfair Trade Practices Act, Fla. Stat. §501.201 et seq.  (“FDUTPA).  Plaintiff also 
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seeks to recover all excessive amounts that were paid to and unjustly enriched 

Defendants.  Finally, Plaintiff seeks to enjoin Defendants’ continued unlawful 

conduct under FDUTPA.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

19. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §1331 because it presents a federal question.  This Court has supplemental 

jurisdiction over the state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367. 

20. This Court also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the Class 

Action Fairness Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. §1332(d)(2)(A) (“CAFA”).  Plaintiff is a 

citizen of the state of Alabama who owns real property situated in Franklin 

County, Florida, that is the subject of the claims asserted herein.  Defendants are 

citizens of the states of Arkansas, Georgia and Ohio.  The amount in controversy 

exceeds $5,000,000 and there are at least 40 members of the putative class. 

21. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they are 

foreign corporations authorized to conduct business in Florida, each of which 

regularly conducts business in Florida and, therefore, have sufficient minimum 

contacts with Florida and/or intentionally avail themselves of the Florida consumer 

market through the promotion, marketing, sale, and service of mortgages or other 

lending services and insurance policies in Florida.  
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22. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 because 

Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction in this district, regularly transact 

business in this district and, therefore, are deemed citizens of this district.  

Additionally, a substantial part of the events and/or omissions giving rise to the 

claims occurred, in part, within this district.   

PARTIES 

23. Plaintiff Simeon Penton is over the age of eighteen (18) and is a 

citizen of the State of Alabama.  Plaintiff owns Unit # 103 in the Mariner’s View 

Condominiums, 710 Howard Street, Carrabelle, Franklin County, Florida (the 

“Property”).  Beginning in 2010, Plaintiff entered into a series of mortgage loans 

with Gulf States Community Bank secured by the Property, the last of which was 

later acquired by and/or transferred to Centennial. 

24. Defendant Centennial is a wholly owned subsidiary of HBS, 

headquartered at 620 Chestnut Street, Conway, Arkansas.  Centennial maintains 

approximately 88 branches in the State of Florida, and approximately 90 branches 

elsewhere throughout the United States.  Centennial owns and holds the mortgage 

on Plaintiff’s Property and forced-placed the flood and hazard insurance on the 

Property.   

25. Defendant Great American is a wholly owned subsidiary of American 

Financial Group, an insurance holding company.  Great American is headquartered 
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at 301 E. Fourth Street, Cincinnati, Ohio, and maintains an office in this State.  

Great American provides property and casualty insurance products and, 

specifically, surplus insurance in Florida and elsewhere throughout the United 

States.  Surplus line insurance carriers do not file their insurance rates with state 

insurance regulators and therefore their rates (and the ultimate insurance 

premiums) are not reviewed or approved by the state insurance regulators.  As of 

March 31, 2016, Great American reported to the Florida Insurance Commissioner 

that it had $1,608,696,535 in reported surplus and an underwriting gain of 

$77,712,694.  See https://www.floir.com/siteDocuments/ 

SignificantWriters03312016.pdf (last accessed August 21, 2018).  Great American 

issued the forced-placed insurance on Plaintiff’s Property. 

26. Defendant OSC, a subsidiary of Breckenridge Insurance Group Inc., is 

headquartered in Kennesaw, Georgia, and maintains an office in this State.  OSC 

actively participates in the force-placed insurance market and openly markets its 

compliance-driven tracking technology and insurance products for lenders, 

mortgage services, and property investors.  OSC’s website advertises its 

proprietary IrisX software tracking system.  According to its website content, OSC 

provides its bank clients (including Centennial) with insurance tracking, coverage 

ordering, robust search and reporting, and consumer-compliant communications 

capabilities. OSC’s website content goes on to state that it is intimately aware of its 
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customers’ data, offering them “[t]ailored technology, compliance, and reporting 

options coupled with comprehensive coverage.”  See 

https://www.oscis.com/insurance/property/lender-placed/ (last accessed August 28, 

2018).  OSC was the insurance broker that procured the “force-placed” hazard 

and/or flood insurance on Plaintiff’s Property.  

TOLLING OF STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS 

27. The applicable statute(s) of limitations have been tolled by 

Defendants’ knowing and active concealment and denial of the facts alleged 

herein.  Plaintiff and the members of the Class could not have reasonably 

discovered the true, latent nature of the aforementioned problems with 

Centennial’s force-placed insurance practices until shortly before this class action 

litigation was commenced.  As a result of Defendants’ active concealment, all 

applicable statutes of limitations otherwise applicable to the allegations herein 

have been tolled. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

28. Plaintiff purchased the Property on or about September 2005.  

Plaintiff initially financed the purchase of the Property through Gulf State 

Community Bank with a two-year, interest-only note in the amount of $200,000.00 

secured by a mortgage on the Property.   
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29. On or about October 2007, Gulf State Community Bank renewed the 

initial note and mortgage for a period of 12 months.  On or about September 2008, 

Gulf State Community Bank renewed the loan again, this time under a standard 30-

year note and mortgage secured by the Property.  The total amount financed was 

$200,000.00. 

30. On or about February 2010, Plaintiff refinanced the 2008 note and 

mortgage with Gulf State Community Bank and entered into a 30-year note and 

mortgage in the amount of $191,424.43 secured by the Property.  Unbeknownst to 

Plaintiff until June 2018, however, at the time of refinancing the loan in February 

2010, Gulf State Community Bank determined that the value on the Property was 

$160,000, with a loan-to-value of 120%.   

31. Plaintiff was obliged to maintain flood and hazard insurance on the 

Property as a condition of the 2010 note and mortgage. 

32. On November 19, 2010, Gulf State Community Bank was closed by 

the Florida Office of Financial Regulation and the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation (“FDIC”) was named as Receiver. 

33. The FDIC thereafter entered into a purchase and assumption 

agreement with Centennial whereby Centennial assumed and purchased all of the 

assets of Gulf State Community Bank, including the 2010 note and mortgage loan 

encumbering the Property. 
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34. As an owner of one of the units at Mariner’s View Condominiums, 

Plaintiff became a member of the condominium association.  The condominium 

association purchased hazard and flood insurance for all of the condominium units, 

including the Property owned by Plaintiff.  Specifically, Plaintiff’s condominium 

association policy provided hazard and flood insurance with $125,000 in flood 

insurance coverage on Plaintiff’s Property during all relevant times, without any 

lapse in coverage. 

35. Beginning in 2011, Centennial, through the participation and 

assistance of OSC, and later with Great American, began force-placing flood and 

hazard insurance on Plaintiff’s Property and applying the related charges to the 

balance of his note and mortgage loan.  Despite the fact that Plaintiff had adequate 

flood and hazard insurance on the Property, Centennial chose to calculate flood 

insurance on Plaintiff’s Property based on the total amount of the mortgage, which 

was in excess of the value of the collateral securing the loan.  This was in direct 

violation of banking regulations that required Centennial to calculate the required 

amount of flood insurance as the lesser of the outstanding principal balance of the 

loan or the insurable value of the Property securing the loan, minus the value of the 

land on which the Property is located. 

36. The insurance force-placed on Plaintiff’s Property was issued by 

Great American through OSC.  The insurance force-placed on Plaintiff’s Property 
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was a surplus lines policy, the rates of which were not filed with or approved by 

Florida Office of Insurance Regulation (FLOIR).  Specifically, the Florida Office 

of Insurance Regulation notes that “Surplus lines insurance companies do not file 

rates and forms with the Office.”  See 

https://www.floir.com/Sections/PandC/FloodInsurance/FloodInsuranceWritersFL.a

spx.  (last accessed September 17, 2018).  Moreover, Defendants’ conduct alleged 

herein concerning improperly force-placing insurance is not regulated by FLOIR.   

37. In a letter dated November 23, 2012, Centennial represented to 

Plaintiff that his flood and/or hazard insurance was insufficient under the terms of 

the mortgage loan: “Your current policy expired on 11/22/12. We require a policy 

in the amount of $141,000.” Centennial’s statement that Plaintiff’s policy had 

expired was incorrect, as Plaintiff was covered by the condominium association’s 

policy at all times.  

38. Additionally, in multiple letters to Plaintiff, Defendants represented 

that Centennial’s “guidelines” required additional coverage, over and above the 

$125,000.00 in coverage that Plaintiff had in place under the condominium 

association policy.  For example, in a letter dated November 27, 2015, Centennial 

stated: “Your current policy has coverage in the amount of $125,000, but our 

guidelines require that you carry at least $195,800.”  In conjunction with the letter, 

Plaintiff received a certificate of insurance from OSC stating that it was issued 
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pursuant to Centennial’s master policy and listing the limit as $195,800.00 with a 

total premium of $3,394.25.  After Plaintiff disputed the need for this flood 

insurance, OSC issued Plaintiff a notice of flood cancellation “at the request of you 

or your insured mortgagee.” Despite this knowledge that the flood insurance was 

not required, OSC issued a certificate of coverage through a surplus-lines carrier 

again the following year. Great American likewise continued to issue notices of 

insurance year after year, despite Plaintiff’s complaints and full or partial premium 

refunds. 

39. In a letter dated January 14, 2016, Centennial stated: “Your current 

policy has coverage in the amount of $125,000, but our guidelines require that you 

carry at least 100% Replacement Cost Value (RCV) of $200,000.”  Centennial’s 

use of 100% RCV to determine the necessary amount of flood coverage was 

improper and in violation of banking regulations.  As stated earlier, flood insurance 

coverage is to be determined by the lesser of (a) the outstanding principal balance 

of the loan; (b) the insured value of the property; or (c) the maximum available 

through the NFIP. 

40. None of the force-placed insurance policies were appropriate as, at all 

relevant times, Plaintiff had sufficient flood insurance coverage under the 

condominium association policy that was sufficient to satisfy Plaintiff’s obligations 

under the mortgage loan and under Federal Banking Regulations, and Centennial 
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was aware of such coverage at all times.  To date, Centennial has procured at least 

11 forced-placed insurance policies through surplus lines insurance relating to 

Plaintiff’s mortgage loan. 

41. Additionally, upon information and belief, a portion of the value for 

which Plaintiff was required to obtain and keep hazard and flood insurance was 

attributable to unimproved property (i.e., the land).  As alleged above, flood 

insurance is required only on improved property and, therefore, in setting a 

property’s value for flood insurance, only improvements may be taken into 

account.  Adding the costs for unimproved property for purposes of calculating 

flood insurance unnecessarily and improperly inflates the insurance premium. 

42. On numerous occasions, Plaintiff notified Centennial of its errors 

relating to the force-placed insurance on his mortgage loan, satisfying the error 

resolution procedures of RESPA and Regulation X, as it asserted an error that 

included the name of the borrower, information that enabled the servicer to identify 

the borrower’s mortgage loan account, and the error the borrower believed had 

occurred.  12 C.F.R §1024.35. 

43. Regulation X (12 C.F.R §1024.35 (e)) requires that upon receipt of a 

Notice of Error, the servicer: 

must respond to a notice of error by either: (A) Correcting the error or 
errors identified by the borrower and providing the borrower with a 
written notification of the correction, the effective date of the 
correction, and contact information, including a telephone number, for 
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further assistance; or (B) Conducting a reasonable investigation and 
providing the borrower with a written notification that includes a 
statement that the servicer has determined that no error occurred, a 
statement of the reason or reasons for this determination, a statement 
of the borrower’s right to request documents relied upon by the 
servicer in reaching its determination, information regarding how the 
borrower can request such documents, and contact information, 
including a telephone number, for further assistance. 

44. In response to Plaintiff’s notices, Centennial fully refunded Plaintiff’s 

charges on four occasions, partially refunded Plaintiff’s charges on three 

occasions, and refused to refund Plaintiff’s charges entirely on four occasions. 

Plaintiff’s notification of force-placed insurance-type charges and Centennial’s 

refunds are depicted in the following chart: 

Date 
Force-placed 

insurance type 
Force-placed 

premium 
Refund 
(if any) 

12/9/11 Flood $5,606.74 -0.00- 

11/22/12 Hazard $1,881.36 $1,881.36 

1/4/13 FLW $3,448.02 $141.71 

1/8/13 Flood $5,688.21 $1,558.57 

10/24/13 Hazard $1,939.63 $1,939.63 

2/23/14 Flood $5,688.21 $5,688.21 

3/1/15 Flood $1,235.52 $357.80 

11/16/15 Flood $3,394.24 $3,394.24 

2/29/16 Flood $1,218.36 -0.00- 

4/15/17 Flood $1,048.32 $427.93 

1/8/18 Flood $1,017.12 -0.00- 

Totals: $32,165.73 $15,389.45 

Net overcharges: $16,776.28 
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45. In June 2018, Plaintiff learned for the first time that in May 2013, 

Centennial had requested an appraisal on the Property for its own internal use. The 

appraisal, dated as of May 31, 2013, valued Plaintiff’s Property at Ninety-Eight 

Thousand Dollars ($98,000.00). This value was well below the amounts 

represented in 2013, 2014 and 2015.  For example, in a letter dated November 27, 

2015, Centennial stated: “Your current policy has coverage in the amount of 

$125,000, but our guidelines require that you carry at least $195,800” but 

Defendants never disclosed that an appraisal had determined the value of the 

Property was only $98,000. 

46. After receiving the May 2013 appraisal, if not as early as 2011, 

Centennial was on notice that the insured value of the Property was less than the 

amount it required in insurance, yet it continued to force-place flood insurance 

based on the amount of Plaintiff’s mortgage loan balance. 

47. Plaintiff has suffered an ascertainable loss as a result of Defendants’ 

unlawful, deceptive and unfair business practices including, but not limited to, the 

un-refunded cost of the force-placed flood and hazard insurance.   

48. The actions and practices described above are unconscionable and 

undertaken in bad faith with the sole objective to maximize profits.  Borrowers 

who for whatever reason have stopped paying for insurance or are allegedly under-

insured on mortgaged property are charged hyper-inflated and illegitimate 
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noncompetitive “premiums” for force-placed insurance.  These premiums are 

inflated to include undisclosed kickbacks to the Defendants or their affiliates (who, 

as described above, perform little to no functions related to the force-placement of 

the individual policies), as well as the cost of captive reinsurance arrangements and 

administrative services.  

49. Plaintiff does not challenge Centennial’s right to force-place insurance 

in the first instance.  Rather, Plaintiff challenges Defendants’ wrongful 

manipulation of the force-placed insurance market in order to place unnecessary 

coverage at artificially inflated premiums.  This lawsuit seeks to recover the 

unnecessary and/or excessive premium amounts charged for excess or surplus 

insurance coverage in violation of federal banking regulations and Centennial’s 

standardized mortgage loan agreements. 

50. There are no material differences between Defendants’ actions and 

practices directed to Plaintiff, and their actions and practices directed to the Class.  

The NFIP 

51. The NFIP is codified primarily under two statutes: the National Flood 

Insurance Act of 1968 (“1968 Act”) and the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973 

(“FDPA”).  42 U.S.C. §§4001-4129.  The 1968 Act made federally-subsidized 

flood insurance available to owners of improved real estate located in “special 

flood hazard areas” (“SFHA”) if their community participates in the NFIP.  A 
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SFHA is an area within a flood plain having a 1% or greater chance of flood 

occurrence in any given year. 

52. Until the adoption of the FDPA in 1973, the purchase of flood 

insurance was voluntary. The FDPA made the purchase of flood insurance 

mandatory in connection with loans made by regulated lending institutions 

[Centennial Bank] when the loans are secured by improved real estate or mobile 

homes located in a SFHA in a participating community. The FDPA directed the 

OCC Board, FDIC, NCUA, and the former Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”) to 

issue regulations governing lending institutions. 

53. Title V of the Riegle Community Development and Regulatory 

Improvement Act of 1994, also known as the National Flood Insurance Reform 

Act of 1994 (the “1994 Act”), comprehensively revised the federal flood insurance 

statutes.  The purpose of the 1994 Act was to increase compliance with flood 

insurance requirements and participation in the NFIP in order to provide additional 

income to the National Flood Insurance Fund and to decrease the financial burden 

of flooding on the federal government, taxpayers, and flood victims.  (H.R. Conf. 

Rep. No 652, 103d Cong. 2d. Sess. 195 (1994), available at https://www.gpo. 

gov/fdsys/pkg/BILLS-103hr3474enr/pdf/BILLS-103hr3474enr.pdf (last accessed 

August 28, 2018)). 
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54. The 1994 Act required federal financial regulatory agencies, including 

the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (“FRB”); the Federal 

Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”); the National Credit Union 

Administration (“NCUA”); the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency 

(“OCC”); and the Office of Thrift Supervision (“OTS”) to revise their current 

flood insurance regulations and, for the first time, brought lenders regulated by the 

Farm Credit Administration (“FCA”) under the coverage of the federal flood 

insurance statutes. The federal financial regulatory agencies and the FCA 

(collectively, the “Agencies”) jointly issued regulations on August 29, 1996 (61 FR 

45684).  Agency regulations are codified at 12 C.F.R. §22 (OCC); 12 C.F.R. §208 

(FRB); 12 C.F.R. §339 (FDIC); 12 C.F.R. §§563, 572 (OTS); 12 C.F.R. §614 

(FCA); 12 C.F.R. §760 (NCUA). 

55. The Agencies all issued and adopted consistent regulations regarding 

flood insurance.  Those regulations all contain the same language and state: 

A bank shall not make, increase, extend, or renew any designated loan 
unless the building or mobile home and any personal property 
securing the loan is covered by flood insurance for the term of the 
loan.  The amount of insurance must be at least equal to the lesser of 
the outstanding principal balance of the designated loan or the 
maximum limit of coverage available for the particular type of 
property under the Act.  Flood insurance coverage under the Act is 

limited to the overall value of the property securing the designated 

loan minus the value of the land on which the property is located. 
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August 29, 1996 (61 FR 45687) (see https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-1996-08-

29/pdf/96-21860.pdf) [emphasis added]. 

56. The 1994 Act also made the flood insurance requirements directly 

applicable to the loans purchased by the Federal National Mortgage Association 

(“Fannie Mae”) and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie 

Mac”) and to agencies that provide government insurance or guarantees such as the 

Small Business Administration (“SBA”), Federal Housing Administration 

(“FHA”), and the Department of Veterans Affairs (“VA”). 

57. The mandatory flood insurance purchase requirements of the FDPA 

were again significantly amended with the passage of the Biggert-Waters Flood 

Insurance Reform Act of 2012 (“Biggert-Waters Act”) and the Homeowner Flood 

Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (“HFIAA”). These statutes made changes to 

the provisions pertaining to forced placement of flood insurance, escrowing of 

flood insurance premiums and fees, exemptions to the mandatory flood insurance 

purchase requirement, and civil money penalties. Moreover, a new provision 

mandating the acceptance of a private flood insurance policy meeting certain 

criteria as satisfaction of the mandatory purchase requirement was added to the 

FDPA. The Agencies jointly issued rules addressing forced placement, escrow, and 

the exemption to the mandatory purchase requirement for detached structures on 

July 21, 2015 (80 FR 43215). 
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58. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (“FEMA”) is tasked 

with the administration of the NFIP.  FEMA’s regulations implementing the NFIP 

appear at 44 C.F.R. §§59-80. 

59. FEMA has established maps of properties located within areas that are 

prone to flooding, and which thus may be required to be protected by flood 

insurance.  A SFHA represents an area subject to inundation by a 1% annual 

chance flood.  Structures located within the SFHA have a 26% chance of flooding 

during the life of a standard 30-year mortgage.  Federal flood plain management 

regulations and mandatory flood insurance purchase requirements apply in these 

zones.  Plaintiff’s Property is located within a SFHA. 

60. Centennial’s standard form note and mortgage loan agreements 

contain a provision requiring the borrower to maintain hazard insurance coverage – 

and flood insurance coverage if the property is located in a SFHA – on the 

improved property securing the loan, and should the borrower allow the insurance 

to lapse or fall below the minimum required, these agreements let the lender obtain 

“force-placed” coverage, charging the premiums to the borrower. 

61. Specifically, Centennial’s note and mortgage loan agreement with 

Plaintiff required him to maintain flood insurance on the Property in an amount 

equal to the lesser of: (a) the unpaid balance of the loan, or the total line of credit 

amount, plus any prior liens; (b) the insurable value; or (c) the maximum available 
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through the NFIP ($250,000 for 1-4 family dwellings, $500,000 for commercial 

property). 

62. At all times relevant hereto, OSC and Great American had exclusive 

arrangements with Centennial to monitor their mortgage portfolios and provide 

force-placed insurance.  In addition to the subsidized mortgage services received 

from OSC and later Great American, Centennial was in effect kicked back a 

percentage of the force-placed premium charged to borrowers. 

63. The scheme works as follows: Centennial purchases master or 

“umbrella” insurance policies that cover the entire Centennial portfolio of 

mortgage loans.  Plaintiff’s notice of forced place coverage from OSC specifically 

stated: 

 

64. OSC and later Great American were given the exclusive right to force 

insurance on property securing a loan within the portfolio when the borrower’s 

insurance lapses or the lender determines the borrower’s existing insurance is 

inadequate.  OSC and later Great American monitor Centennial’s entire loan 

portfolio for lapses in borrowers’ insurance coverage. Once a lapse or an alleged 

under-insured situation is identified, either Centennial or OSC or Great American 

send a notice to the borrower that flood insurance will be “purchased” and force-
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placed if the voluntary coverage is not continued.  If a lapse continues, the insurer 

notifies the borrower that insurance is being force-placed at his or her expense.  

65. No individualized underwriting ever takes place for the force-placed 

coverage.  Insurance is automatically placed on the property and the premium 

charged to the borrower.  In many instances, the insured value of the property is 

much less than the coverage being force-placed. 

66. Once coverage is forced on the property, Centennial charges the 

borrower for the insurance premiums, which are either deducted from the 

borrower’s mortgage escrow account by Centennial’s exclusive force-placed 

insurance vendors or added to the balance of the borrower’s loan.  

67. Centennial pays the premiums to the insurers.  Upon information and 

belief, OSC or Great American then shares a portion of that payment with the 

lender or servicer, sometimes in the form of “soft dollar” credits.  

68. Under this highly profitable force-placed insurance scheme, 

Defendants are incentivized to purchase and force-place insurance policies with 

artificially inflated premiums on borrowers’ properties because the higher the cost 

of the insurance policy, the higher the kickback.  

69. On information and belief, Centennial also enters into agreements for 

OSC and Great American to provide servicing activities on Centennial’s entire 

loan portfolio at below cost. The servicing costs are added into the force-placed 
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premiums which are then passed on to the borrowers. The insurers are able to 

provide these services at below cost because of the enormous profits they make 

from the hyper-inflated premiums charged for force-placed insurance. However, 

because insurance-lapsed mortgaged property or allegedly under-insured 

mortgaged property comprises only 1-2% of the lenders’ total mortgage portfolio, 

the borrowers who pay these premiums unfairly bear the entire cost to service the 

entire loan portfolio.  

70. When Centennial adds the high-priced premium cost to a 

homeowner’s mortgage balance, it thereby increases the interest paid over the life 

of the loan by the homeowner to the lender. Ultimately, it is the unsuspecting 

homeowner who suffers the consequences of these unconscionable practices. 

71. As described above, by charging excessive and unreasonable amounts 

for lender-placed insurance, Defendants’ actions were not regulated by FLOIR. 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

72. Plaintiff brings this action on his own behalf, and on behalf of 

nationwide class pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(a) and 23(b)(2) 

and/or (3): 

Nationwide Class: 

All borrowers who, during the applicable statute of limitations, were 
charged by Centennial or its affiliates for a force-placed hazard and/or 
flood insurance policy placed on property located in the United States 
that exceeded the insurable value of the structure. Excluded from this 
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class are Defendants, their affiliates, subsidiaries, agents, board 
members, directors, officers, and/or employees (the “Nationwide 
Class”).  
 
73. Plaintiff also brings this action on his own behalf, and on behalf of a 

Florida statewide class pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(a) and 

23(b)(2) and/or (3): 

Florida Class:  

All borrowers who, during the applicable statute of limitations, were 
charged by Centennial or its affiliates for a force-placed hazard and/or 
flood insurance policy placed on property located in the State of 
Florida that exceeded the insurable value of the structure. Excluded 
from this class are Defendants, their affiliates, subsidiaries, agents, 
board members, directors, officers, and/or employees (the “Florida 
Class”). 

The Nationwide Class and Florida Class are collectively referred to as the 

Class.  

74. Certification of Plaintiff’s claims for class-wide treatment is 

appropriate because Plaintiff can prove the elements of his claims on a class-wide 

basis using the same evidence that would be used to prove those elements in 

individual actions alleging the same claims. 

75. Numerosity:  Upon information and belief, the Class is so numerous 

that joinder of all members is impracticable.  Plaintiff believes that thousands of 

persons entered into mortgage loans with Centennial that included the obligation to 

maintain hazard and/or flood insurance.   
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76. Existence and Predominance of Common Questions of Fact and Law:  

Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class.  These 

questions predominate over the questions affecting individual Class members.  

These common legal and factual questions include, but are not limited to:  

a. whether Defendants charged borrowers for unnecessary flood 

insurance coverage that exceeded the amount required by law.  

b. whether Defendants engaged in a pattern of overcharging their 

mortgage customers for unnecessary and/or duplicative flood and hazard 

insurance; 

c. whether Centennial breached the mortgage loan agreements 

with Plaintiff and the Class by charging for force-placed insurance that 

included illegal kickbacks (including unwarranted commissions and 

reinsurance payments) and by charging Plaintiff and the Class for servicing 

their loans;  

d. whether Centennial breached the implied covenant of good faith 

and fair dealing with Plaintiff and the Class by entering into exclusive 

arrangements with selected insurers and/or their affiliates that resulted in 

unnecessary and/or inflated insurance premiums being charged to Plaintiff 

and the Class;  
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e. whether Defendants have been unjustly enriched at the expense 

of Plaintiff and the Class;  

f. whether Defendants manipulated force-placed mortgage 

purchases in order to maximize their profits to the detriment of Plaintiff and 

the Class;  

g. whether the premiums charged are inflated to include kickbacks 

and unwarranted “commissions”;  

h. whether the premiums charged are inflated to include charges 

for bundled administrative services that the vendors provide to the lenders or 

mortgage servicers, and which are not chargeable to Plaintiff and the Class 

under the terms of their mortgages;  

i. whether the premiums charged are inflated to include the cost 

of a captive reinsurance arrangement;  

j. Whether Plaintiff and the Class Members are entitled to 

damages and/or injunctive relief as a result of Defendants’ conduct.  

77. Typicality:  All of Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the 

Class since Plaintiff entered into a mortgage loan contract with Centennial for the 

Property that obligated the borrower to maintain minimum amounts of hazard 

and/or flood insurance, as did each member of the Class.  Furthermore, Plaintiff 

and all members of the Class suffered monetary and economic injuries arising out 
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of Defendants’ wrongful conduct.  Plaintiff is advancing the same claims and legal 

theories on behalf of himself and all absent Class members. 

78. Adequacy:  Plaintiff is an adequate representative because his 

interests do not conflict with the interests of the Class that he seeks to represent, he 

has retained counsel competent and highly experienced in complex class action 

litigation, and he intends to prosecute this action vigorously.  The interests of the 

Class will be fairly and adequately protected by Plaintiff and his counsel. 

79. Superiority:  A class action is superior to all other available means of 

fair and efficient adjudication of the claims of Plaintiff and members of the Class.  

The injuries suffered by each individual Class member are relatively small in 

comparison to the burden and expense of individual prosecution of the complex 

and extensive litigation resulting from Defendants’ conduct.  It would be virtually 

impossible for members of the Class to individually and effectively redress 

Defendants’ misconduct.  Even if the members of the Class could afford such 

individual litigation, the court system could not.  Individualized litigation presents 

a potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments.  Individualized litigation 

increases the delay and expense to all parties, and to the court system, presented by 

the complex legal and factual issues of the case.  By contrast, the class action 

device presents far fewer management difficulties, and provides the benefits of 
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single adjudication, an economy of scale, and comprehensive supervision by a 

single court. 

80. Defendants acted, and refused to act, on grounds generally applicable 

to the Class, thereby making appropriate final equitable relief with respect to the 

Class as a whole. 

COUNT I  
BREACH OF CONTRACT  

(Against Centennial)  
 

81. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-5, 12-17, 18-50, 60-66, 72, and 74-80 

above as if fully set forth herein. 

82. Plaintiff and all Class members have or had mortgages that are or 

were owned and/or serviced by Centennial. 

83. Plaintiff and these Class members’ mortgages are written on uniform 

mortgage forms and contain substantially similar provisions regarding 

requirements for force-placed insurance and its placement by Centennial. 

84. Plaintiff’s and Class members’ mortgages require that they maintain 

insurance on their properties and provide that if they fail to do so, the lender may 

obtain insurance coverage to protect its interest in the property, “force place” the 

coverage, and charge the borrower the cost. 

85. Centennial’s standardized mortgage documents and federal banking 

regulations applicable to Plaintiff’s and Class members’ mortgages clearly state 
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that flood insurance coverage is to be determined by the lesser of (a) the 

outstanding principal balance of the loan; (b) the insured value of the property; or 

(c) the maximum available through the NFIP. 

86. Centennial breached Plaintiff’s and the Class members’ mortgage 

agreements by charging Plaintiff and the Class for excess and unnecessary force- 

placed insurance coverage. 

87. Additionally, Centennial charges premiums that include unearned 

“commissions” or kickbacks, as well as bundled administrative and other 

impermissible costs. These are not costs of coverage and are not applied to 

protecting Centennial’s rights or risk in the collateral for borrowers’ mortgage 

loans. Centennial breached the mortgage agreements by, among other things, 

charging Plaintiff and Class members amounts beyond the actual cost of coverage. 

88. Plaintiff and Class members suffered damages as a result of 

Centennial’s breaches of contract.  

COUNT II  
BREACH OF IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH  

AND FAIR DEALING  
(Against Centennial)  

89. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-5, 12-17, 18-50, 60-66, 72, and 74-80 

above as if fully set forth herein. 

90. A covenant of good faith and fair dealing is implied in every contract 

and imposes upon each party a duty of good faith and fair dealing in its 
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performance.  Common law calls for substantial compliance with the spirit, not just 

the letter, of a contract in its performance. 

91. Where an agreement affords one party the power to make a 

discretionary decision without defined standards, the duty to act in good faith 

limits that party’s ability to act capriciously to contravene the reasonable 

contractual expectations of the other party. 

92. Plaintiff and the Class members’ mortgage agreements allow 

Centennial to force-place insurance coverage on the borrower in the event of a 

lapse in coverage or in the event Centennial determines that the borrower has 

insufficient coverage, but do not define standards for selecting an insurer or 

procuring an insurance policy. 

93. Centennial is afforded substantial discretion in force-placing 

insurance coverage.  It is permitted to select the company from which it purchases 

force-placed insurance and negotiate a price for the coverage but has an obligation 

to exercise the discretion afforded in good faith and not capriciously or in bad 

faith. 

94. Plaintiff does not seek to vary the express terms of the mortgage 

contract, but to ensure that Centennial exercises its discretion in good faith.  

Centennial breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by, among 

other things:  
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a. manipulating the force-placed insurance market by selecting an 

insurer and broker (Great American and OSC, respectively) that artificially 

inflated premiums to include kickbacks to Centennial and issued excessive 

insurance coverage in violation of federal banking regulations, and by failing 

to seek competitive bids on the open market and instead contracting to create 

“back room” deals whereby insurance coverage is routinely purchased from 

either Great American or OSC and their affiliates without seeking a 

competitive price;  

b. improperly and/or unfairly exercising its discretion to choose an 

insurance policy in bad faith and in contravention of the parties’ reasonable 

expectations, by selecting force-placed insurance policies with artificially 

inflated premiums to maximize its own profits;  

c. assessing inflated and unnecessary insurance policy premiums 

against Plaintiff and the Class and misrepresenting the reason for the cost of 

the policies;  

d. collecting or receiving a percentage of the premiums charged to 

Plaintiff and the Class as a kickback and not passing that percentage on to 

the borrower, thereby creating the incentive to seek the highest-priced 

premiums possible;  
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e. charging Plaintiff and the Class for commissions when the 

insurance is pre-arranged and no commission is due;  

f. charging Plaintiff and the Class the cost of having the vendor 

perform its obligation of administering its mortgage portfolio, which is not 

properly chargeable to Plaintiff or the Class;  

g. force-placing insurance coverage in excess of what is required 

by law or borrowers’ mortgage agreements;  

h. force-placing insurance coverage in excess of the insured value 

of the property; and/or 

i. charging Plaintiff and the Class an inflated premium due to the 

captive reinsurance arrangement.  

95. Plaintiff and the Class suffered damages as a result of Centennial’s 

breaches of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.  

COUNT III  
UNJUST ENRICHMENT  
(Against All Defendants) 

96. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-5, 12-17, 19-50, 60-66, 72, and 74-

80. 

97. Defendants received from Plaintiff and Class members benefits in the 

form of unnecessary, improper and/or inflated insurance premiums related to force-
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placed insurance policies, unwarranted kickbacks and commissions, captive 

reinsurance arrangements, and subsidized loan servicing costs.  

98. Defendants entered into an agreement whereby the insurance vendors 

– Great American and OSC – would provide force-placed insurance policies to 

Centennial for the portfolio of loans monitored on behalf of Centennial.  

Centennial would then charge Plaintiff and the Class members premiums that were 

artificially inflated to include costs not properly chargeable to the borrowers. The 

force-placed policies imposed on borrowers were therefore far more expensive 

than those available to borrowers in the open market.  

99. Plaintiff’s unjust enrichment claim is pleaded in the alternative to his 

contractual claims against Centennial. 

100. Centennial also collected premiums on force-placed policies that 

provided coverage in excess of that required by law or the borrowers’ mortgage 

agreements. 

101. Great American and OSC collected and paid significant monies in 

premiums, kickbacks and commissions, tied directly to the inflated cost of the 

force-placed insurance premiums.  Commissions or kickbacks were paid to 

Centennial in order to exclusively provide force-placed insurance policies. 

102. These payments directly benefitted Defendants and were made to the 

detriment of the borrowers.  The kickbacks and commissions, and subsidized costs 
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were subsumed into the price of the insurance premiums and ultimately paid by the 

borrowers.  Therefore, Defendants had the incentive to charge and collect 

unreasonably inflated prices for the force-placed policies. 

103. Further, Defendants received financial benefits in the form of 

increased interest income and/or “soft-dollar” credits.  

104. Plaintiff and the Class conferred an unjust benefit on Defendants. 

105. Defendants had knowledge of this unjust benefit and voluntarily 

accepted and retained the benefit conferred on them. 

106. Defendants will be unjustly enriched if they are allowed to retain the 

aforementioned benefits, and Plaintiff and each Class member is entitled to recover 

the amount by which Defendants were unjustly enriched at his or her expense. 

COUNT IV  
VIOLATION OF THE FLORIDA DECEPTIVE AND  

UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT  
(Against Centennial)  

107. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-17, 19-59, 62-71, and 73-80 above. 

108. FDUTPA prohibits “unfair methods of competition, unconscionable 

acts or practices, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any 

trade or commerce.”  See Fla. Stat. §501.204. 

109. Plaintiff and the Florida Class are “consumers” as defined in Fla. Stat. 

§501.203(7). 
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110. Centennial engaged in, and continues to engage in, unconscionable 

acts or practices and deceptive and/or unfair acts in the conduct of its trade and/or 

commerce in the State of Florida. 

111. The policies, acts and practices alleged herein were intended to result 

and did result in the payment of inflated premiums for force-placed insurance by 

Plaintiff and the Florida Class which, in turn, were intended to generate unlawful 

or unfair compensation for Centennial. 

112. Specifically, Centennial had an exclusive relationship with its vendor 

and preferred insurance carrier, whereby it would pay unreasonable and inflated 

premiums for force-placed insurance policies, charge that amount to Plaintiff and 

the Florida Class, and then receive compensation through either kickback or 

captive reinsurance arrangements based on a percentage of the insurance policy’s 

premium. 

113. Centennial’s conduct of charging an inflated premium for its force-

placed insurance to Plaintiff and members of the Florida Class violates FDUTPA 

and was conceived, devised, planned, implemented, approved and executed within 

the State of Florida.  

114. Plaintiff and the Florida Class sustained damages as a direct and 

proximate result of Centennial’s deceptive and/or unfair trade practices.  Section 

501.211(2) of FDUTPA provides Plaintiff and the Florida Class a private right of 
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action against Centennial and entitles them to recover their actual damages, plus 

attorneys’ fees and court costs. 

115. Unless enjoined, Centennial will continue to engage in the same 

deceptive and/or unfair trade practices alleged herein.  Section 501.211(1) of 

FDUTPA provides Plaintiff and the Florida Class a private right of action against 

Centennial to enjoin a person who has violated, is violating and/or is likely to 

violate FDUTPA. 

COUNT V 
VIOLATIONS OF THE REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT  

PROCEDURES ACT, 12 U.S.C. §2601 et seq. 

(Against Centennial) 
 

116. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-17, 19-59, 62-71, 72, and 74-80 

above. 

117. Plaintiff followed the error resolution procedures authorized by 

RESPA and Regulation X (12 C.F.R. §1024.35) as revised by the Dodd/Frank 

amendments.  However, Centennial failed to reasonably investigate Plaintiff’s 

concerns or correct the errors he identified. 

118. Had Centennial reasonably investigated the issues raised in Plaintiff’s 

RESPA/Regulation X correspondence, it would have concluded that the force-

placed insurance it procured was improper.  Further, if Centennial had conducted a 

reasonable investigation, it would have corrected all force-placed insurance 

Case 4:18-cv-00450-MW-CAS   Document 1   Filed 10/01/18   Page 39 of 46



 

 

40 
 

charges and related finance charges.  Instead, it allowed thousands of dollars of 

such charges to stand. 

119. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Centennial’s failure to reasonably 

investigate and correct the errors identified in Plaintiff’s RESPA/Regulation X 

correspondence.  Damages to Plaintiff include the wrongful insurance premium 

charges and related finance charges incurred as a result of the wrongful and 

unnecessary force-placed flood and hazard insurance imposed on them by 

Centennial. 

120. Centennial’s failure to follow RESPA’s error correction procedures is 

part of a regular, widespread uniform business practice. 

121. Plaintiff and the other Class members sustained damages and other 

losses in an amount to be determined at trial as a direct and proximate result of 

Centennial’s violations of RESPA.  Centennial’s conduct damaged Plaintiff and 

the other Class members, who are entitled to recover actual damages, 

consequential damages, specific performance, diminution in value, costs, including 

statutory attorneys’ fees, prejudgment interest, and/or other relief as deemed 

appropriate. 
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COUNT VI 
VIOLATIONS OF THE TRUTH IN LENDING ACT,  

15 U.S.C. § 1601, et seq.   
(Against Centennial) 

  
122. Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1-17, 19-59, 62-71, 72, and 74-80 

above. 

123. Plaintiff’s and the Class’ mortgages were consumer credit plans 

secured by their principal dwellings and were subject to the disclosure 

requirements of the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C.§ 1601, et seq., and 

all related regulations, commentary, and interpretive guidance promulgated by the 

Federal Reserve Board. 

124. Centennial is a “creditor” as defined by TILA because it owned or 

serviced Plaintiff’s mortgage and changed the terms of the mortgage so as to create 

a new mortgage obligation, of which Centennial was the creditor. 

125. Pursuant to TILA, Centennial was required to accurately and fully 

disclose the terms of the legal obligations between the parties. See 12 C.F.R. § 

226.17(c). 

126. Centennial violated TILA, specifically 12 C.F.R. § 226.17(c), when it: 

(i) added force-placed insurance charges to Plaintiff’s mortgage obligations and 

failed to provide new disclosures; and (ii) failed at all times to disclose the amount 

and nature of the kickback to Defendants and their affiliates as a result of the 

purchase of force-placed insurance. 
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127. When Centennial changed the terms of Plaintiff’s mortgage to charge 

for insurance amounts in excess of its interest in the Property, it changed the 

finance charge and the total amount of indebtedness, extended new and additional 

credit through force-placed insurance charges, and thus created a new debt 

obligation. Under TILA, Centennial was then required to provide a new set of 

disclosures showing the amount of the insurance charges (i.e. finance charges) and 

all components thereof. On information and belief, to the extent a borrower cannot 

pay the expense up front, Centennial increases the principal amount under 

Plaintiff’s and Class’ mortgages when it force-places the insurance, which 

constitute new debt obligations for which new disclosures are required. 

128. As described above, Centennial adversely changed the terms of 

Plaintiff’s loans after origination in order to allow a kickback on the force-placed 

insurance charges. These kickbacks are not authorized in the mortgage in any clear 

and unambiguous way. Centennial never disclosed to Plaintiff and members of the 

Class the amount of the kickbacks paid to Defendants or their affiliates. 

129. Centennial also violated TILA by adversely changing the terms of 

Plaintiff’s loan after origination by requiring to force-placed hazard and/or flood 

insurance policies that exceeded the insurable value of the structure on the 

Property.  Similarly, Centennial violated TILA by adversely changing the terms of 

Class members’ loans after origination to the extent it required force-placed hazard 
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and/or flood insurance policies that exceeded the insurable value of the structures 

on Class members’ properties.   

130. Acts constituting violations of TILA occurred within one year prior to 

the filing of this action or are subject to equitable tolling because Centennial’s 

undisclosed kickbacks to Defendants or their affiliates, were concealed from 

Plaintiff and the Class. 

131. Plaintiff and the Class have been injured and have suffered a 

monetary loss arising from Centennial’s violations of TILA. 

132. As a result of Centennial’s TILA violations, Plaintiff and the Class 

are entitled to recover actual damages and a penalty of $500,000.00 or 1% of 

Centennial’s net worth, as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(1)-(2). 

133. Plaintiff and the Class are also entitled to recovery of attorneys’ fees 

and costs to be paid by Centennial, as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(3). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and all similarly situated 

individuals, demands judgment against Defendants as follows: 

A. Declaring this action to be a proper class action maintainable pursuant 

to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(a) and 23(b)(2) and/or (3) and declaring 

Plaintiff and his counsel to be representatives of the Nationwide Class and the 

Florida Class;  
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B. Finding that Centennial breached the subject mortgage contracts 

and/or the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing arising thereunder and 

awarding damages sustained by Plaintiff and the Class, together with pre-judgment 

interest;  

C. Finding that Defendants have been unjustly enriched and requiring 

Defendants to disgorge and refund the amount of all unjust benefits to Plaintiff and 

the Class, together with pre-judgment interest;  

D. Finding that Centennial has violated TILA and awarding Plaintiff and 

the Class actual damages and a penalty of $500,000.00 or 1% of Centennial’s net 

worth, as provided by 15 U.S.C. §1640(a)(1)-(2), plus attorneys’ fees and costs to 

be paid by Centennial, as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(a)(3). 

E. Finding that Centennial violated FDUTPA based on its deceptive 

and/or unfair acts and/or practices and awarding Plaintiff and the Florida Class 

damages, attorneys’ fees and costs, as provided under FDUTPA;  

F. Enjoining Centennial from continued violations of FDUTPA based on 

the deceptive and/or unfair acts and practices alleged herein;  

G. Awarding Plaintiff and the Class costs and disbursements and 

reasonable allowances for the fees of Class Counsel and experts, and 

reimbursement of expenses; and 
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H. Awarding such other and further relief the Court deems just and 

proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

/s/ Robert C. Gilbert   
Robert C. Gilbert 
Florida Bar No. 561861 
KOPELOWITZ OSTROW FERGUSON 
WEISELBERG GILBERT 
2800 Ponce de Leon Boulevard 
Suite 1100 
Coral Gables, FL 33134 
Telephone:  305-384-7270 
Email: gilbert@kolawyers.com 

SCOTT+SCOTT ATTORNEYS AT LAW LLP 
Joseph P. Guglielmo (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
The Helmsley Building 
230 Park Avenue, 17th Floor 
New York, NY 10169 
Telephone:  212-223-4478 
Facsimile:  212-223-6334 
Email: jguglielmo@scott-scott.com 

SCOTT+SCOTT ATTORNEYS AT LAW LLP 
Erin Green Comite (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
156 South Main Street 
Colchester, CT  06415 
Telephone:  860-537-5537 
Facsimile:  860-537-4432 
Email: ecomite@scott-scott.com 

 

Additional Counsel Listed on the Following Page 
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DAVIS & TALIAFERRO, LLC 
Greg L. Davis (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
7031 Halcyon Park Drive 
Montgomery, AL 36117 
Telephone:  334-832-9080 
Facsimile:  334-409-7001 
Email: gldavis@knology.net 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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